APPENDIX A
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

GPU Nuclear Corporation Docket No. 50-219
Oyster Creek Nuclear Generating Station License No. DPR-16

As a result of the inspection conducted on October 1-4, 1985, and in accordance
with the NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the following violation
was identified:

10 CFR 70.51(c) requires, in part, that each licensee establish, maintain,
and follow written material control and accounting procedures which are
sufficient to enable tlhe licensee to account for the special nuclear material
in his possession under license.

Oyster Creek Nuclear Generating Station Procedure 1002.4, Revision 9, "Docu-
mentation/Accounting of the Receipt, Shipment, Transfer and Movement of
Special Nuclear Material (SNM)", requires (SNM Card File-Purpose 3.4.1 and
Entries in the SNM Card File 3.4.2.) that upon receipt of a completed Item
Control Area (ICA) transfer and/or completed SNM Move Sheet, the Core Engin-
eering Manager or his designee shall record the transfer as provided on the
appropriate Fuel Management Card located in the Kardex file.

Contrary to the above, the inspector determined on October 3, 1985 that the
Kardex file had not been maintained to record *he movement of certain fuel
bundles located in the spent fuel pool which had been relocated on August 25
and 26, 1984 as shown on SNM Move Sheet Nos. 84-123, 84-124, and 84-125.

This 1s a Severity Level V violation (Supplement III E).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, GPU Nuclear Corporation is hereby
required to submit to this office within thirty days of the date of the letter
which transmitted this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply,
including: (1) the corrective steps which have been taken and the results
achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid further violations;
and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where good cause is
shown, consideration will be given to extending this response time.
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